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2 Introduction

What an interesting and challenging year 2016 has turned
out to be!
It’s difficult to predict the implications of the outcome of
the EU referendum on the UK and particularly on the NHS
and the scientific community. Guaranteeing the status of
EU nationals working in the health and social care system
post-Brexit is an immediate priority. The Commons Select
Health Committee has launched an inquiry to identify
priorities for health and social care in Brexit negotiations.
The next big upset of this post-truth politics year is the
result of the US presidential election which none of us
expected.
The NHS is struggling in terms of demand, capacity and
the financial deficit being realised. Sustainability and
Transformation Plans (STPs) have been developed for local
regions (footprints) which attempt to reduce inequality
and improve quality and cost efficiency. STPs have
attracted criticism for the limited public engagement
throughout the process, and the haste with which they
were produced. All NHS Trust CEOs and Chairs received a
letter from NHS Improvement in June 2016 outlining the
financial position for 2016/17 and describing actions to be
taken to eradicate a substantial proportion of the deficit.
One of the areas highlighted for action is ‘Back office
and Pathology Consolidation – Carter Implementation’.
The Sustainability and Transformation leads were asked
to develop proposals to consolidate back office and
pathology services by the end of July 2016. This has not
happened but is progressing.
The ACB responded to this letter and there was also a
Pathology Alliance response, both of which are on the
ACB website.
NHS Improvement has been given a budget of over
£62 million to roll out data collection and decrease
variation in 30 specialities. This is a three year programme
with a clinical lead for each specialty. The NHSI team will
increase from 10 to 130 people. Their mantra is that we
need reorganisation/centralisation/networks in order to
decrease unwanted variation. In terms of pathology,
the Pathology Alliance has offered to support and advise
NHSI.
2016 was another great year for meetings. FiLM took its
usual slot in Austin Court in January 2016 and it’s
wonderful to see how it attracts participants from all
walks of pathology and management; in fact the majority
were not from Clinical Biochemistry.
Focus was held in Warwick, which is a new venue for us.
Congratulations to the organising committee for delivering

such a wonderful programme. There was also a series of
very successful high quality scientific meetings held by
the ACB Regions as outlined in the regional reports and
the National Meetings Committee report.
The ACB Scientific Scholarships scheme funded four
projects in 2016 and a total of £30,000 was awarded.
A new development is that previous recipients of
scholarships have been invited to speak at Focus 2017
in Leeds.
Publications and communications did very well in 2016
and I would like to thank Jonathan Berg and Ed Lamb for
their efforts and welcome the new editors: Ian Hanning
for ACB News and Michael Murphy for the Annals.
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The President’s bulletin was launched in 2016 and is a
means of communication in this age of snippets.
Last year I said that workforce planning and the current
training numbers for both scientists and medical staff were
among my concerns. There is still some uncertainty about
future funding of STP training following the removal of
funding for a range of professions, including nursing.
This has resulted in a decrease of 23% in applications for
places, which is particularly worrying at a time when we
need to train more staff. We need to ensure adequate
training numbers and robust systems of training
particularly in light of the Association of Clinical Scientists
(ACS) major change to the time requirement for route 2
assessments.
This year we have heard of the deaths of 17 ACB members
and I think it’s appropriate to remember them in the
Annual Report:
Mr Charles C Allister (Retired)
Mrs Lesley M Cranfield (Retired)
Prof Roger P Ekins (Honorary)
Ms Mary D Gardner (Founder)
Dr Elizabeth A Groves (Ordinary)
Dr John R Gurney (Retired)
Dr Ray Heyworth (Retired)
Dr Dewi S Holt (Federation)

Mr Keith R Johnson (Ordinary)
Mr Kevin Lawton (Retired)
Dr Andrew D Nicol (Retired)
Mr A Mark Robertshaw (Overseas)
Dr Douglas A Robertson (Retired)
Mrs Vivien K Tebbutt (Retired)
Dr Mansel J Thomas (Founder)
Dr Pat A M Worthington (Founder)
Dr John H Young (Retired)
We owe them all a debt of gratitude.
I would like to extend my thanks to my colleagues on
Executive and Council for their hard work and support
during the year. Particular thanks are due to those who
are stepping down at the AGM in 2017: William Marshall
and Frances Boa, both of whom have been excellent
colleagues. My gratitude as ever goes to the ACB office
staff for their help and support.
My final thanks go to the members of the ACB; it is the
members that make the ACB the wonderful organisation
that it is.

Dr Gwyn McCreanor
President

ACB Membership Award winners presented at the Council meeting on 7th July 2016 (left to right): Stephen Goodall - Emeritus,
Paul Collinson - Honorary, Gwyn McCreanor - (ACB President), Anne Pollock - Emeritus, Kevin Spencer – Honorary, David Hullin – Fellow

4 Association Awards

Association
Awards

5Foundation Award Prof Naveed Sattar

5Professors’ Prize Lecture
Dr Timothy McDonald

5ACB Medal Award

Dr John Wadsworth

Association Awards 5

5Transatlantic Lecture Prof Patricia Jones

5President’s Shield Mr Geoff Lester

6 Education Committee

The Education Committee and the Regional Tutors have
organised a number of training events for our members,
as well as supporting the National School of Healthcare
Science (NSHCS) during the Scientist Training Programme
(STP) and Higher Specialist Scientific Training programme
(HSST) recruitment rounds and the objective structured
final assessments (OSFAs).
The Education Committee organised a training day
preceding the national Focus meeting held at Warwick
University. For the morning session Dr Alan Jones provided
an excellent overview of lipids and Dr Les Perry discussed
the issues concerning the standardisation of current
immunoassays. The afternoon concentrated on data
interpretation and statistics. Dr Sarah Cotterill, University
of Manchester, used examples relevant to pathology to
ensure that delegates understood what statistical methods
should be used in a range of scenarios. Ms Elizabeth
Davidson and Dr Karen Smith provided interactive sessions
relating to data interpretation in preparation for the
FRCPath examinations and duty biochemist scenarios.
The committee members are grateful to the speakers for
providing such valuable teaching.
The ACB Medal Award took place at Focus and six trainees
were shortlisted. It was a pleasure to listen to some
excellent presentations and it augurs well for the future of
the profession.
The summer training course was re-scheduled for the
autumn with Rachel Webster and Karen Smith taking up the
challenge of organising the programme in Birmingham.
The course was fully subscribed and received very positive
feedback.

Dr Les Perry at the Focus 2016 Training Day

The Education Committee had the pleasure of awarding
travel bursaries to the following members of the Association
during 2016:
Heidi Cox
Leanne Cleaver
Amy Frank

Knowledge Lab 2016
European Bone and Joint Infection
Symposium
Mass Spectrometry: Applications to the
Clinical Laboratory 2016

The recipients have or will be writing articles for the
ACB News.

Director: Dr Frances Boa
Deputy Director: Mrs Hazel Borthwick

Education Committee
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ACB Scholarships
The ACB Scientific Scholarships scheme remains an
important aspect of ACB activity. The scheme is an
expression of our desire explicitly to support primary
research that benefits patients and helps our members
develop critical skills in the design and execution of
high-quality studies. This year we changed the method for
deciding the amount of support each study would receive,
so that successful applicants now receive 100% of requested
funding.
The ACB Scientific Scholarships scheme piloted a new peer
reviewed process this year and also increased the maximum
individual scholarship award to £9000. We aim to fund 3 or 4
exceptional projects. Peer reviewers from the ACB and
wider biochemistry community were asked to feedback on
anonymous applications in their area of expertise. The
applications were then also reviewed by the Scientific
Committee members. Four projects were fully funded this
year out of 12 applications, and a total in excess of £30,000
was awarded. The Scientific Committee would like to thank
all the peer reviewers who gave their time freely and made
it possible for the committee to maintain quality and
fairness in awarding scholarships.
For the first time, previous recipients of scholarships have
been invited to speak during a session at the Focus 2017
meeting in Leeds. We would like to thank the Scientific
Programme Committee for Focus 2017 for making this
possible.
Once again, I wish to thank all Scientific Committee
members who have contributed significantly to a rigorous
process of peer review of applications, co-ordinated by
Alexandra Yates, especially Owen Driskell, Rob Shorten,
Dimitris Grammatopoulos, David Gaze and William Finch.
Special thanks are also due to the members who have
applied for a scholarship or have supported applicants.

The Clinical Sciences Reviews Committee
The Clinical Sciences Reviews Committee (CSRC) is a
sub-committee of the Scientific Committee and is
responsible for the commissioning of reviews,
commentaries, personal views or debates on any aspect of
clinical biochemistry and laboratory medicine.
These are normally published in the Annals of Clinical
Biochemistry, International Journal of Laboratory Medicine
or other journals as appropriate. The chair of CSRC is a
member of the Scientific Committee and reports to it.
A number of reviews commissioned by CSRC have been
published (see below). A further six have been submitted
and 21 commissioned. In addition, the committee have 22
proposals under consideration.
ACB Involvement with NICE
The Scientific Committee continues to explore ways to
improve the time-lag between biomarker discovery and
implementation for patient benefit, and we feel that
increasing the influence of the ACB within NICE is one way
to achieve this. Over the last year, Chris Chaloner and Owen
Driskell have engaged with key individuals at NICE to ensure
that their committees can make optimum use of our
greatest resource, our members. This approach has resulted
in significant changes to NICE guideline documents making
implementation more relevant and evidence-based.
We would encourage you to review guidelines in preparation
in the Science section of the ACB website. Owen and I would
like to thank all ACB members who have given their time so
freely.
Clinical LC-MS Special Interest group
The Clinical LC-MS subgroup, chaired by Laura Owen,
increased its membership to ten this year. Their primary aim
is to provide training and education in the area of mass
spectrometry. The meeting held on 23rd February 2016 at
St Thomas’ Hospital was a success with approximately 50
delegates attending.

Project
Number

Author(s)

Title

Published

14-14

Leighton Seal

Treatment of gender dysphoria

January 2016

11-25

Anita Sarker, Claire Meek,
Adrian Park

Biochemical consequences of bariatric surgery for
extreme clinical obesity

January 2016

14-04

Stephen Bird et al

Doping in sport and exercise: anabolic, ergogenic,
health and clinical issues

March 2016

14-07

Chris Price,
Robert Christenson

Critical appraisal in laboratory medicine

March 2016

15-02

Helen Holt,
Danielle Freedman

Internal quality control in point of care testing:
where’s the evidence?

March 2016

14-06

Bulusu Sudha,
Sharma Manisha

What does serum gamma glutamyl transferase tell us as
a cardiometabolic risk marker?

May 2016

14-05

I Balakrishnan, Rob Shorten

Therapeutic drug monitoring of antimicrobials

May 2016

14-12

V Eligar, PN Taylor et al

Thyroxine replacement – clinical endocrinologist viewpoint

May 2016

Scientific Committee
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Fourth meeting of the LC-MS Special Interest Group (Manchester, 24th May 2016)

The committee meet yearly, with hot topics for discussion
being the clinical impact of LC-MS/MS technology and
ISO accreditation.
Pre-analytics subgroup
The group meets annually and conducts other work via
email, although two meetings are planned for 2017.
A Becton Dickinson representative has now joined the
group. Other suppliers were also invited. A second follow up
paper has been published by the group in the Annals of
Clinical Biochemistry looking at best practice in the
collection of pre-analytical quality indicators.
There are plans for future projects to include looking at the
actions taken in response to poor quality indicators in the
pre-analytical phase. We also hope to investigate how well
patients are prepared before a blood test. This will include
both a patient survey and an observational survey. A large
project looking at interference indices on major analytical
platforms to verify manufacturer claims is being considered.
We would like to schedule some educational days with talks
and case based discussions.
UK Paediatric Laboratory Medicine (PaLMnet) subgroup
The PaLMnet group has generated considerable interest
across our membership. A vision document and terms of
reference are available in the Science section of the ACB

website. In brief, the group aims to reach consensus on core
laboratory tests related to paediatrics to share with
laboratories across the UK. Chris Chaloner was elected as
Chair during a meeting in Manchester in September 2016.
A number of important topics were discussed, from which
consensus statements will be published on the ACB website,
including for alkaline phosphatase reference intervals,
pregnancy testing in under 16 year olds, ammonia testing
and patient safety, and reporting of acute kidney injury.
The ACB National Clinical Audit Group
The National Audit Group held a one day meeting on 22nd
June 2016 in Birmingham, which included an overview of
the clinical audit process, the results and recommendations
from this year’s national audits (see table below), scientific
and clinical updates from experts in these areas and
selected local audits. Gareth McKeeman, Belfast and
Annette Thomas, Cardiff published a short guide in the ACB
News on ‘How to conduct a national audit — hints and tips’.
The regional audit groups in Thames, N Ireland, Wales,
Scotland, North West and the Midlands have provided
excellent regional audits over the year.

Director: Dr Christopher Chaloner
Deputy Director: Mrs Alexandra Yates

Audit topic

Audit lead

Date

Laboratory analyses for poisoned patients

Helen Stoddart and
Dawn Grenshaw, Frimley Health

March 2016

Non-HDL cholesterol reporting

Wassif Wassif and Rachel Randle,
Bedford

April 2016

Deployment of the national equation for
acute kidney injury

Jamie West, Peterborough

June 2016
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Publications have continued to be produced during 2016 and
provide an invaluable resource for the membership and a
wider audience. The financial rewards from these
publications serve to support the aims of the ACB. We rely
on a huge contribution from members within each of the
committees that comprise the publication arm of the
Association.
The ACB website has been developed and expanded to
include membership benefits, with excellent support from
the ACB office in keeping the information timely. We
continue to develop and utilise information technology and
this has culminated in the production of an ACB app, which
incorporates our meetings, including Focus. The app is
downloadable for either IOS or Android. This is an evolving
project and members will see further development over the
next year.
The President’s Twitter page is in constant use and is
appreciated by the membership. Another addition to our
communications programme is the President’s bulletin,
highlighting key areas of interest to the membership. Other
ways to communicate with the wider membership continue
to be sought.
ACB News
After 645 consecutive monthly editions, ACB News is
changing (from January 2017) to being published bi-monthly.
ACB News has worked to keep readers up to date with
what is going on in the Association and the wider world
around us. In the last year we have discussed the changes
being driven by the newly formed sustainability and
transformation plan (STP) groups in England, with
laboratories considering closer networking. In particular,
the article looking at the function of STPs appears to have
been informative not just for ACB members but for much
wider audiences. The ACB News is a fantastic vehicle to
promote scientific meetings and events and also to report
them afterwards; however, this relies on the participation
of readers and ACB Members.

first time; submission rates are at their highest ever and the
overall acceptance rate for the Journal is approximately
40% (lower for research articles).
From January 2016, the Journal became open access for
volumes published over 1–2 years ago (i.e. current volume
and previous volume remain subscriber only). It is hoped
that this will enhance the visibility and impact of the
journal. There has been a dramatic (approximately
three-fold) increase in electronic access (including 250,000
full-text downloads by the end of September 2016).
During 2016 we worked with our publisher SAGE to redesign
the Annals cover, which has remained basically unchanged
since 2002. From January 2017 there will be a new cover
design, maintaining links with Annals heritage whilst
presenting a more contemporary image for the journal.
Over the last year we have been using plagiarism software
(iThenticate) to check the originality of all articles at
submission. Whilst not always straightforward, this tool has
enabled us to decline several manuscripts where we felt the
level of duplication was unreasonable.
The majority of articles received are research articles or
short reports but we receive a healthy number of case
reports, letters and review articles. Topical reviews
published in 2016 included those of gender dysphoria,
bariatric surgery, quality control, thyroxine replacement
and doping in sport.
The current Editor-in-Chief, Dr Edmund Lamb, will be
stepping down at the end of 2016 and will be succeeded by
Dr Michael Murphy. Our thanks go to Edmund for his brilliant
contribution over the years. I am pleased to inform the
membership that Edmund will continue to support the
Annals.

At the end of 2016 we saw the departure of Professor
Jonathan Berg as ACB News Editor. Jonathan has edited
every monthly issue since July 1988 and has led a team
which has produced every issue on time. Perhaps Jonathan’s
biggest attribute has been his ability to keep pressing the
‘refresh’ button during nearly thirty years of dramatic
change in media communications. A huge vote of thanks
goes to Jonathan for his enthusiasm and contribution to the
ACB over the years.
Annals of Clinical Biochemistry
The Annals is an international scientific journal for the
Association’s membership and beyond. The Journal metrics
are healthy and compare favourably with others in the field:
the impact factor for 2015 was 2.12 and this has now
remained above 2.00 for three consecutive years for the

Dr Michael Murphy and Dr Edmund Lamb discuss the Annals

Publications Committee
Annual Report & Accounts 2016

10 Publications & Communications Committee

Lab Tests Online UK (LTO-UK)
Patient empowerment, provision of accurate up to date
information on laboratory tests to support patient’s
electronic access to their medical records and improved
utility of laboratory tests have been the key areas of focus
for LTO-UK this year. The survey of LTO-UK users was
published in the Annals of Clinical Biochemistry in November
2016 and demonstrated how the website is used by both
patients and healthcare professionals. The majority of
website visitors found what they were looking for on the
website and found the information on the website easy to
understand. Both patients and healthcare professionals
provided positive and encouraging feedback on the content
and design of the website. The American Association of
Clinical Chemistry (AACC) plan to redesign the US website in
early 2017 and this will be rolled out to the other countries,
including the UK, later in the year.
Website traffic in 2016 has increased steadily, with an
average of 255,153 visitors per month and a total of
3,061,838 for the year. The app continues to be popular
with 4271 downloads this year out of a total so far of
18,371. We plan to start monitoring active users of the app
as well as the absolute number of downloads in order to
provide further information on how the app is being used.
The number of visitors to the website via links from GP
systems is also increasing. Further increases are envisaged
as more patients are given online access to their records
and patient education and empowerment becomes
embedded in clinical practice.
LTO-UK is to remain non-commercial and is funded by the
ACB, the Institute of Biomedical Science (IBMS) and the
Royal College of Pathologists (RCPath); we are grateful to
them for their continuing support.
The LTO-UK board actively engages with the public and
healthcare professionals to promote the website and
members have attended a number of events over the past
year, such as the National Association of Patient
Participation (NAPP) annual meeting. There have been
numerous requests for marketing materials, including for
the RCPath National Pathology Week event in Newcastle,
the NAPP stand at the Royal College of General Practitioners
annual conference and for other local events.
The LTO-UK website continues to receive visitors via links
from other websites, including NHS Choices. LTO-UK was the
only website given as an example of ‘appropriate resources
to interpret test results’ by a recent Nuffield Trust research
report (The Digital Patient: transforming primary care?
Nov 2016).

• to ensure that GPs have direct links from their surgery to
the LTO-UK website. Currently the following GP systems
have direct links: TPP, HealthFabric and iSOFT
• to work with GP and patient record system suppliers to
further integrate LTO-UK into these, including I-patient
(Paers), DrDoctor and the Welsh national order
communications project
• to increase links with other public facing websites,
e.g. national health-related charities
• to engage with patient-facing applications.
Venture Publications
This year has seen the publication
of the twenty-third Venture
Publications book, entitled Critical
Care and Laboratory Medicine,
by Peter Gosling, Anne Sutcliffe
and Stephanie Dancer. This was
originally published as Intensive
Care and Clinical Biochemistry in
1994 and has had major revision for
the new edition. The authors hope
that the book will encourage
laboratory staff with an interest in
critical illness to become involved
with this area of laboratory medicine, to offer support and
be part of the multidisciplinary team caring for this group of
patients with diverse clinical needs. It was distributed free
to ACB members during the summer and is available to
purchase.
Two further titles in preparation are new editions of
Neonatology and Laboratory Medicine and Liver Disease
and Laboratory Medicine.
Many thanks are due to our team of editors and other
committee members who, despite the difficulties
encountered in bringing books to publication, continue to
show admirable enthusiasm and commitment to the various
projects we have in progress. We also thank Sue Ojakowa at
PRC Associates for so ably obtaining sponsorship and
advertising revenue to help with production costs, and the
team in the ACB office who provide much needed
administrative support to the work of the committee.
We have announced previously that the committee and the
ACB Executive have decided that VP should not actively
commission any further books, although the Association will
consider any proposals received from members who are
considering writing a book.

The LTO-UK board monitors the progress of the website and
the following three-year (2014–2017) objectives have been
met this year:

I would like to thank again the team in the ACB office for
their continued support, Jonathan Berg (ACB News),
Danielle Freedman (LTO-UK), Beverley Harris (Venture
Publications), Edmund Lamb (Annals of Clinical
Biochemistry) and all colleagues who support the functions
of each of the committees.

• to generate an increase in annual traffic by at least 10%
year on year and to promote the use of the app to
patients and health professionals

Director of Publications & Communications:
Mr Paul Newland
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There have been several changes to the committee during
2016 and thanks are due to all the members for their hard
work and dedication. In particular, after finishing her term
of three years as Chair of the Trainees’ Committee, we
would like to thank Emma Ashley and welcome James
Pethick as the new Chair.
This year the Trainees’ Committee has continued to listen to
and act upon the views and opinions of trainees in relation
to the Scientist Training Programme (STP) and Higher
Specialist Scientist Training (HSST), FRCPath examinations
and the content and location of ACB and Focus training
courses. The Trainees’ Committee feeds back to members of
the profession who determine the structure and content of
training and examinations. Members of the Trainees’
Committee attend the RCPath Specialist Advisory
Committee for Biochemistry, the RCPath Trainees’ Advisory
Committee and ACB Council and Education Committee
meetings.
Public Engagement
Trainees were involved in various activities during National
Pathology Week, helping to raise awareness of the
profession and demonstrate the importance of pathology to
members of the public. Trainees across the country have
also enrolled in the STEM (science, technology, engineering
and mathematics) ambassadors programme and been
involved in various activities and demonstrations with
schools and young people.
STP trainees
At the national STP induction event at Aston Villa football
ground in September, members of the committee promoted
the ACB and the benefits of membership to the new cohort
of trainees. More than half of them have subsequently
become members. The ACB offices once again hosted the
STP elective presentation afternoon in December. The event
was organised by the committee and was free for all ACB
members to attend. The meeting was a success, helping STP
trainees to discover the scope of elective placements, how
to plan and prepare their electives and how to meet the
training requirements of this aspect of the STP programme.
HSST and career progression
The number of ACB trainee members undertaking HSS
training continues to grow. There has been an abundance of
band 7 posts available this year for newly qualified STP
trainees and to our knowledge, all trainees have secured
higher training posts. Some trainees have moved to
different trusts, whilst others have secured permanent posts
or contract extensions at the trust in which they trained.
Communications
The Trainees’ Committee continues to add useful guidance
and information to the content that is already available on
the Trainees’ section of the website. This includes examples
of elective projects completed by former STP trainees,

Trainees at the STP Induction Day at Aston Villa Football Club

links to the IFCC eAcademy and information on training
courses and trainees’ events such as the electives
presentation day. The National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) guideline summaries section continues to
be expanded and trainees have been encouraged to write
analyte monographs for publication on the ACB website.
Summaries of National Pathology Week activities undertaken
by trainees can be added to a new section of the website.
Future training issues
There is growing concern over the availability of funding for
future training posts as the number of trainees being
recruited to the profession appears to be shrinking following
NHS spending reviews. Of particular concern to the
profession is that the predicted rate of retirements is likely
to exceed the rate of trainee recruitment. This could have a
dramatic impact on future trainees, affecting their MSc
funding, salaries or training support. The information has
been shared with the Trainees’ Committee along with the
possible solutions to meet the shortfall in training through
Modernising Scientific Careers.

Chair: Mr James Pethick
Vice Chair: Miss Katie Hadfield

Trainees’ Committee
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The Clinical Practice Section (CPS) groups together
medically qualified pathologists and clinical scientists
within the ACB who have specific interests in aspects of
biochemistry/laboratory medicine with direct application to
routine clinical practice. Its work covers a range of
educational activities, guideline and best practice
development, biochemistry/laboratory medicine and
contributions to national guideline bodies. We work closely
with other ACB committees, in particular the Scientific
and Education Committees. The CPS committee meets
quarterly by teleconference.
Working groups
The Clinical Practice Section currently has three active
working groups:
1. Reflexive and reflective testing
Reflexive and reflective testing has long been considered
a core function of a good diagnostic laboratory whereby
pathologists and clinical scientists, in response to a set
of abnormal test results, add further tests to those
originally requested by the referring clinician to
expedite diagnosis and management. Common scenarios
are the addition of magnesium in a patient with
significant hypokalaemia or the reflexive addition of
Free T4 in a patient with an abnormal TSH
concentration. In some cases reflective testing may raise
ethical issues, e.g. should the laboratory undertake
serum protein electrophoresis in a patient with an
elevated total protein concentration in the absence of
prior discussion with the requesting clinician and
patient? The aims of this working group are three-fold:
first to undertake a survey to establish current practice
in UK laboratories, second to identify evidence that
reflective testing contributes to improved patient
outcomes and third to develop best practice guidelines
for laboratories for when and how reflexive/reflective
testing should be undertaken.
2. Evidence-based magnesium replacement guidelines
Magnesium deficiency is a common clinical problem.
There are numerous clinical guidelines in use for
magnesium replacement which differ significantly
in the dose and rate of magnesium administered.
This working group will undertake a literature review to
identify the evidence base for magnesium replacement
regimens and will develop evidence based best practice
guidelines.

3. Adjusted calcium systematic review and best practice
guidelines
The Clinical Practice Section has previously developed
interim guidance on this topic. A systematic literature
review is underway to inform more definitive best
practice guidance. This has taken longer than
anticipated but it is hoped will be completed in 2017.
Support system for newly appointed chemical pathology
consultants
The Clinical Practice Section has developed a support
(‘buddy’) system for newly appointed consultants in
chemical pathology. A new consultant is paired with an
established and experienced consultant to provide support
in the early stages of a consultant career. A review of the
system found that uptake was low with many newly
appointed consultants appearing to have adequate formal
and informal support within their own hospital trust.
Although valued by the small number of consultants who
participated in the scheme, most did not feel the need to
seek advice from the supporting consultant. The need for a
support system may therefore be less than anticipated.
Nevertheless the Clinical Practice Section will continue to
offer participation to newly appointed consultants for the
present.
Chemical Pathology meeting
The chemical pathology Specialist Registrar (SpR) club has
held a regular annual meeting for trainees. The Clinical
Practice Section joined with the SpRs to hold a meeting in
Salford in November 2016 geared primarily towards
consultants and SpRs in chemical pathology but which would
also be of interest to clinical scientists. Karolina Stepien
(SpR in Salford) organised an excellent and well attended
meeting which covered a range of topics in metabolic
medicine, an update on the new consultant contract
negotiations from a British Medical Association speaker and
a talk on ‘The consultant job application process and first
year in a consultant chemical pathology/metabolic
medicine post’.
Standards for the reporting of lipid results
Clinical Practice Section representatives have joined a
small working group established by Heart UK (Dr Dermot
Neely) to define standards for the reporting of lipid results.

Director of Clinical Practice:
Dr Maurice O’Kane

Clinical Practice Section
Annual Report & Accounts 2016
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Representation
Despite challenging circumstances, the Microbiology
Professional Committee continued to contribute to the
development of our profession throughout 2016.
We represent microbiology within the ACB on various
internal committees, including Scientific, Education and
Work Advisory Committees, the Federation of Clinical
Scientists and at regional meetings. We also comment on
NICE guidance and laboratory standards. We represent the
ACB at the Royal College of Pathologists on the Specialist
Advisory Committee, the Trainees Advisory Committee and
the Clinical Sciences Committee.
Financial constraints and organisational restructuring
Unfortunately, 2016 brought significant financial constraints
and organisational restructuring affecting members in NHS
and Public Health laboratories. The restructuring of the
food, water and environment laboratories in Public Health
England (PHE), has been dramatic, with the number of
laboratories providing this specialist and essential national
service being reduced from five to just three, with a
significant loss of experienced staff. The formation of the
National Infection Service has also created significant
anxiety for many of our members working for PHE,
especially in relation to future roles.
The Scientist Training Program & objective structured
final assessments
The Scientist Training Program (STP) is well established with
district general and teaching laboratories now hosting and
providing STP training. One difficulty facing trainees was
the discontinuation of the infection MSc by Nottingham
University leaving only a single provider (Queen Mary
University of London) offering this key taught component
for training. The lack of a course outside London has made
training very difficult for those not able to commute to
London easily.
During 2016, there was an increase in the number of ACB
members helping with the delivery of objective structured
final assessment (OSFA) questions or supporting the process
as assessors, leading to the development of several new
stations for the 2016 exams. This enthusiasm has continued
and after a gap analysis of the current bank of questions,

several new exam questions have been developed, more are
being drafted and are progressing well.
Equivalence
A number of the committee members, including Dr Kate
Templeton, are involved in the STP equivalence process
and have undertaken assessments and provided training.
Many of our members becoming STP assessors are already
Association of Clinical Scientists assessors and this has
helped with the process. With potential changes in funding
and STP recruitment, it is expected that we will see an
increase in the number of applications for registration via
the equivalence route.
Meetings
The annual scientific meeting of the ACB Microbiology
Professional Group was held on 10th November 2016 at
Public Health England, Colindale, London. The theme was
“Infections in migrants and travellers: the exotic, the
unusual and the everyday” and covered enteric infections,
tuberculosis, diphtheria, travel and migrant health, Ebola
virus, Zika virus and the role of the rare and imported
pathogens laboratory in Porton Down. The meeting was
attended by around 60 ACB members and non-members
from across the UK. The event was kindly sponsored by
bioMérieux, Mast Group and BioConnections, and supported
by the ACB Office. Many thanks are due to Naomi Gadsby,
and all who worked tirelessly to make this event a great
success.
We recently reviewed the composition of the committee
membership and a large proportion are grade 8A and higher.
We would welcome more engagement and involvement in
council to represent the needs of our members and to
highlight the challenges that we all face. As there are many
demands on our time, it can be hard for an individual to
support and attend all of the meetings required, therefore
we would encourage more members to share the work load
in representing our profession. If you wish to get involved in
any way, no matter how small, please do get in touch and
join us.

Chair: Dr Kirsty Dodgson
Secretary: Dr Moira Kaye

Microbiology Professional Committee
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Membership of the Immunology Professional Committee
(IPC) has never been healthier. We have 27 members with at
least Part 1 of the FRCPath examination. Due to the hard
work of a very small number of immunology clinical
scientists, it is being increasingly recognised that a clinical
immunology laboratory service requires professional
leadership from both the medical and scientific streams.
The result has been an increased demand for senior
immunology clinical scientists nationally, which represents a
significant challenge, since the majority of available people
are in permanent posts with little incentive to move.
Training of new staff is essential to provide continuity of
service, and workforce planning is currently the main role
of the IPC.
Training update
Training status

Numbers
in UK

STP new for 2017

3

STP Year 1

4

STP year 2

4

STP Year 3

6

HSST year 1

6

HSST year 2

1

HSST Year 3

1

FRCPath Part 1 only

3

FRCPath Part 1 and practical

3

FRCPath Part 1 and 2 completing
written component

3

Awarded FRCPath

18

We have 14 trained objective structured final assessment
(OSFA) assessors and two undergoing training. There have
been two successful applications to the Association of
Clinical Scientists (ACS) for statutory registration in
immunology in 2016.

of Catherine Keymer (nee Bennett) earlier in 2016. It could
be beneficial to revisit the role of route 2 in producing new
clinical scientists in immunology. However, this would
require additional resources both locally to provide training
posts and nationally to provide assessors.
Items of concern raised by the membership during 2016
• The release of the ‘Consultant clinical scientist
guidance’ by NHS employers in autumn 2016 has caused
considerable discussion about the role of the Academy
for Healthcare Science (AHCS) acting as an accreditation
body for clinical scientists who have already completed
training and gained consultant posts prior to
establishment of the Higher Specialist Scientist Training
(HSST) programme. It is currently unclear what benefits
accreditation by this additional body would provide.
This is a matter for all the members of the ACB.
•

Given the current emphasis on modern day apprentices
in the NHS, it is uncertain whether there will be long
term national funding for trainee clinical scientists to
complete an MSc course. The loss of this funding would
have a significant impact on training for all healthcare
science disciplines.

•

The provision of examiners for the OSFAs puts
considerable strain on a small number of immunologists
especially when we have to provide examiners for
histocompatability and immunogenetics (H&I) trainees
as well as immunology trainees. We require some
clarification about the future sustainability of H&I STP
training and the role of immunologists in the
programme.

•

We are experiencing problems with the movement of
trained immunology clinical scientists into new posts,
particularly outside the large established centres in the
south east of England. We have a small workforce with
little incentive for individuals to move from their
established base. In the current financial climate,
unfilled posts are likely to be lost. As a discipline,
we have to consider alternative routes for individuals to
join the clinical immunology workforce.

It is not clear how many centres have been accredited for
the Scientist Training Programme (STP) in immunology but
engagement with training is essential for the future of our
discipline. This is particularly difficult when many of us are
still working as single handed practitioners potentially
overseeing multiple centres.

Goals for 2017
There are several vacant positions within the ACB that we
need to fill in 2017. These include a member for the
Scientific Committee, individuals for the ACB expert panel
and a trainee representative. We hope to arrange a meeting
in spring 2017 for all members of the IPC to discuss the
future direction of our group within the ACB, followed by a
meeting with the ACB Executive on 22nd June 2017.

There is some concern about the long term resilience of the
MSc course in Manchester, particularly since the departure

Chair: Dr Liz Furrie

Immunology Professional Committee
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After two national meetings so close together in 2014 and
2015, 2016 returned to a more established format as Focus
was held in the Arts Centre at Warwick University in April.
The meeting returned to a university site in a model first
used in York in 2013. Neil Anderson chaired an enthusiastic
local organising committee based in the Midlands and
Rousseau Gama chaired the scientific programme
committee. This was the ACB’s first foray into a paperless
meeting. Out went the paper meeting handbook and in
came a Focus meeting app, which was developed for us by
Core-Apps in conjunction with Kam Chatha on the local
organising team. Highlights of the meeting included the
Professor’s Prize lecture given by Dr Tim McDonald on
advances in the diagnosis of diabetes and also some
excellent industry sponsored workshops. The 2016 meeting
was the last that the ACB has agreed to organise in
conjunction with Meeting Makers and I would like to express
my thanks for their professional support for the meetings
over the last ten years; without their help I certainly could
not have carried out my role.
As I have reported for the last few years, persuading
delegates to attend meetings continues to be a challenge,
and despite the excellent geographical location of Warwick,
the number of delegates has not increased. Following a
National Meetings Committee, ACB Council and Executive
survey of the membership, it has been decided that Focus
2017 in Leeds will be a two day meeting, concentrating all
the science and education into a more concise format.
This may allow more delegates to attend as costs would be
lower and they would not be away from their base hospitals
for so long. ACB Focus meetings will continue to be promoted
through their own Twitter feed and Facebook page.

The Frontiers in Laboratory Medicine (FiLM) meeting
continues as one of the most thought provoking laboratory
management and innovation meetings within the UK.
The 2016 meeting was held in Birmingham and was again
organised in conjunction with Robert Michel, Editor-in-Chief
of the Dark Report, with the UK organising committee led by
Dr David Clark. Dr Clark continues to engage with all the
laboratory specialties to make the FiLM meeting a truly
cross disciplinary event. Highlights from the 2016 meeting
included a keynote talk from Professor Sue Hill, as well as a
session on ISO standards and the issues faced by
laboratories in their implementation.
Once again, the ACB regions hosted a number of regional
meetings, with individual one day meetings covering a huge
range of topics.
This will be my final Annual Report, as I step down from my
role at the May 2017 Annual General Meeting. Thanks are
due again to Kathryn Brownbill as secretary of the
committee, the ACB Office staff for their ongoing support
and the staff of Meeting Makers, in particular Vicki Grant
who has kept me on the right track in the organisation of
meetings since I took on this role. I would also like to thank
the Focus local organising teams with whom I have worked,
as well as the ACB corporate members for their continued
involvement in meetings throughout the year; without their
financial and professional support we would not be able to
host these events.

Chair: Dr Ian Godber
Secretary: Dr Kathryn Brownbill

Focus 2016 organising committee
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The Federation of Clinical Scientists (FCS) has had another
busy year not only in terms of case work but also
involvement with the wider NHS and working with other
trade unions. Our representatives in Wales, Scotland and
Northern Ireland work closely with their regional healthcare
systems to ensure that members are up to date with local
issues.
Whilst the Pension Choice 2 exercise in England and Wales
has been complete for a while, it has only just ended in
Scotland and is still in process in Northern Ireland, where
FCS has been providing information for its members.
Although the new scheme appears to be bedding in,
FCS is still active in the pension’s field with our national
negotiator sitting on the NHS Pension Board and providing us
with up to date information about the nuances of the
scheme.
The pay settlement for this year in England caused problems
for those at the top of Band 8a as the pay increase took
them over a pension tier, meaning they effectively suffered
a pay cut. This was highlighted to members in an article in
ACB News with modelling done to show the effect. Pay
remains an issue as the government continues to drive
public sector restraint despite rising inflation. We expect
this to be linked to wider reform of the Agenda for Change
(AfC) pay system and to NHS terms and conditions.
This year the AfC Job Evaluation Group’s generic healthcare
scientist (HCS) profiles have been updated. Whilst there has
been little change to the profiles themselves, the titles of
some profiles have been subtly altered, originally leaving
the consultant profile as a band 9 only. With input from FCS,
this has now been changed to band 8d-9. The output from
the Consultant Clinical Scientist project run with NHS
Employers was formally introduced following extensive
consultation with unions and other interested parties.
During the year we have responded to a number of
consultations that have a potential impact on members.
These have included those from the Health and Care
Professions Council, whistleblowing and public sector exit
recovery payments. Whilst some of these invited individual
union responses, others required a joint union response of
which we have been part.

We provide help and support to members who have
questions and queries across a wide range of issues as well
as supporting those who require formal help with case
handling. This has included staff working for Public Health
England (PHE) who continue with service upheaval, with
closure of some sites and consolidation of others, whilst still
working through the changes from NHS to civil service
remuneration schemes. Northern Ireland is also going
through a period of change to its pathology services with
active involvement from the local representatives. We rely
on the support of the our advisor from the Chartered
Society of Physiotherapy (CSP), who provides us and our
members with valuable advice on all aspects of case
handling and who this year has provided support to FCS
members.
During the year there have been several training sessions
organised for our regional and local representatives with
short interactive teleconference training proving to be a
great success. This allows individuals to participate in
training on a particular topic without having to be away
from their base. A full day training session on the subject of
grievances was also organised, which again was well
received.
FCS relies on its local and regional representatives to carry
out its work and provide information to its members locally.
We are very grateful to those who find time in their busy
schedules to support FCS and its work. However, there are
gaps in the network of local and regional representatives
and we would encourage members to take up active roles
themselves.
Grateful thanks are due to the ACB office staff for all their
help and support during the year; they make the lives of the
officers much easier and allow us to fulfil our roles. I would
also like to thank our CSP industrial relations
representative, Jess Belmonte, for all her help and
invaluable advice.

Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Chair:
Dr Andrew Taylor
Deputy Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Secretary:
Dr Emma Lewis

Federation of Clinical Scientists
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The Corporate Members’ Committee continues to bring the
industry perspective to subjects under discussion by the
ACB and highlights issues of concern to both parties.
Conferences
The Focus conferences are becoming established away
from large conference venues. As well as being more
cost effective, universities and the smaller specialised
venues often offer superior lecture facilities. There has
been a trend for the larger Corporate Members to offer
sponsorship and send staff members to maintain a
presence at conferences rather than attending as
exhibitors.
Focus 2016 was held in the excellent campus of
Warwick University, with all accommodation and
social events on site. The exhibition was located in the
Arts Centre which offered more affordable, smaller
exhibition spaces to attract a wider variety of companies.
It was noted that delegates successfully moved from
lectures to the exhibition, and that the campus layout
worked well.
Focus 2017 will be changing to a ‘two day’ model and will
be held in the Royal Armouries, a city centre venue close
to Leeds mainline station and very accessible by road.
The Focus 2016 sponsorship model will be retained for 2017.
Delegates will register and flow into the large open
exhibition space. The two lecture theatres are accessed
from the exhibition hall. This space will also be configured
for industry-sponsored workshops.

ACB Trainee Biochemists and ACB Corporate Member combine to
provide blood testing for dehydration at the London Marathon
2016

Management and Leadership Training Course
ACB Corporate Members will once again present at the
ACB Management & Leadership Course to be held in July
2017. This will cover tendering and managed service
contracts. The workshop highlights the key considerations
for a high quality and cost efficient tender process that
meets the required targets.
Committee
Ross Reynolds has taken over as Chair of the ACB Corporate
Members’ Committee. Leanne Westgate is Vice Chair and
Mark Weaver moves to Past Chair.

Past Chair: Mr Mark Weaver

Corporate Members’ Committee
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North West Region
During the year the NW Region has held
two scientific meetings, one audit
meeting and the national Chemical
Pathology Specialist Registrar and
Consultant meeting. Our first scientific
meeting, the Ian Ward Members Papers
meeting, was held at the Royal
Liverpool Hospital on 14th March 2016
and was sponsored by Waters. Seven
members spoke about their recent
research, ranging from method
development and case studies to the
use of choropleths in clinical practice.
First prize was awarded to Ed
Hinchliffe for his work on busulfan in
haematopoetic stem cell
transplantation. The meeting was
followed by the AGM during which
changes to the committee were
agreed. Our outgoing committee
members were thanked for their
contribution over the last few years
and we welcomed a new
secretary/treasurer (Jane Armer),
meetings secretary (Jonathan Clayton),
immunology representative (Emma
Callery), microbiology representative
(Rajesh Rajendran), and two ordinary
members (Joseph Taylor and Charlotte
Harborow).
Our summer scientific meeting was
again held at the Royal Liverpool
Hospital with a theme of faecal
testing. Emile Richman, a local
gastroenterology dietician spoke about
diet and inflammatory bowel disease,
with emphasis on the relationship
between Crohn disease and fat intake,
citing Japan as an example of a
country where a massive increase in
dietary fat intake has correlated with
an increase in the disorder. Helen
Bruce from the Bowel Cancer Screening
Southern Hub spoke about colorectal
cancer and faecal occult blood testing.
Helen emphasised the importance of
acting quickly in colorectal cancer,
outlining the NICE evaluation criteria,
and inevitably a discussion of faecal
occult blood testing compared with
faecal immunochemical testing ensued.
Professor Stephen Halloran, who has
become an international colorectal
cancer advisor, spoke on the
opportunities and challenges for bowel

cancer screening. Stephen explained
that the incidence of colorectal cancer
is higher in developed countries and is
the price paid for an affluent lifestyle.
It has now been ten years since the
screening programme began and
Stephen emphasised the immense
amount of work that has gone into it.
The day was rounded off by
Dr Martyn Dibb, a local
gastroenterologist who spoke about
using calprotectin in practice and left
us with a question to ponder. Could
patients perform a point-of-care
calprotectin test to detect flare up and
save coming to hospital unnecessarily?
The meeting was generously sponsored
by Biohit.
Our last meeting was our annual audit
meeting and was held on 15th
November at Leighton Hospital, Crewe.
Rachel Randle discussed her audit on
non-HDL cholesterol, a talk which had
been previously given at the National
Audit meeting, and members spoke
about a variety of audits including
communication of abnormal results,
coeliac disease, xanthochromia,
sample flow, B-type natriuretic peptide
and acute kidney injury. The audits on
coeliac disease and xanthochromia
provided a taster for next year’s audit
meeting as both these topics have been
chosen as regional audits for the
coming year. The meeting was kindly
sponsored by Sanofi who gave an
overview of their PCSK9 inhibitor,
alirocumab.
The specialist registrar and consultant
meeting held at Salford on 22nd
November was a great success with
around 70 delegates attending and a
packed programme covering a range of
topics from lysosomal storage
disorders and neonatal screening to
alkaptonuria, porphyria, Wilson
disease, non-alcoholic fatty liver
disease and statins. Some handy tips
and advice on consultant job
applications, the new consultant
contract and chemical pathologist
training were also given. Many
thanks are due to Karolina Stepien for
her hard work in organising this
meeting.

Our trainee members have once again
participated enthusiastically in
national meetings. We awarded one
travel grant this year to Teng Teng To
for her attendance at Focus in
Warwick, where she presented two
posters; one about cannabis analytical
decision limits comparing gas
chromatography֒–mass spectrometry
with immunoassay and one about
paracetamol overdose.
Congratulations go to John Wadsworth
for winning the ACB medal award for
his presentation on the development of
an LC-MS/MS method for itraconazole,
posaconazole and variconazole.
Our trainees embraced National
Pathology Week in November and even
had a pathology themed ‘bake-off’
which included such delights as
‘eyeball cakes’ and a fabulous ‘brain
cake’ created by Joe Taylor.
The region continues to support
trainees and this year several band 7
posts have been filled either with our
own trainees or those from outside the
region. Our two current year 3 STPs are
active and preparing for various parts
of the FRCPath exam, with one already
securing a band 7 post. Our two year 2
trainees are progressing well and we
have five STPs who started in the
region in September: two were direct
entry and three were already in
service.
We are entering uncertain times with
sustainability and transformation plans
across the region. It is extremely
refreshing therefore, that there is still
time to organise, participate in and
enjoy our high quality scientific
meetings throughout the year.
Northern Ireland Region
The ACBNI/ACBI Spring Scientific
Meeting was held on Friday 15th April
in the Wellington Park Hotel, Belfast.
Generous sponsorship was received
from Roche and Amgen. Dr Michael
McBride (Chief Medical Officer, NI)
opened the meeting by encouraging us
to embrace the challenges of
modernising pathology services and
thereby to help influence the wider

ACB Regions Report
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health and social care services in
Northern Ireland. This was followed by
a discussion on human factors in
healthcare by Dr Richard Corry,
Consultant Anaesthetist, who described
ways to identify the reasons for human
error, and how simple changes in
procedures can significantly improve
service quality. Dr Donagh McDonagh,
Associate Medical Director for General
Practice, discussed issues around direct
patient access to results, highlighting
the complexity of some tests and their
interpretation, and the implications of
this initiative in primary care.
Professor Stephen Halloran outlined the
successes, challenges and opportunities
in colorectal cancer (CRC) screening.
Major challenges for the programme
are uptake, analytical cut-offs and
ensuring that the best method is used.
He concluded by proposing the use of
variable cut-offs together with
assessment of personal risk in a
multivariate risk score to increase
detection of colorectal cancers.
Professor Jim Bonham, Sheffield
Children’s Hospital, discussed the
future of neonatal screening.
Significant advances in technology have
created the possibility of identifying
many rare disorders. Candidates for
addition to the current programme are
long-chain 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA
dehydrogenase (LCHAD) deficiency,
tyrosinaemia type 1, congenital
adrenal hyperplasia, severe combined
immunodeficiency and Duchenne
muscular dystrophy.
Dr Philip Johnston, Consultant
Endocrinologist spoke on the approach
to the male with constitutional delay in
growth and puberty (CDGP). CDGP is a

Laboratory Open Day at the Ulster Hospital

Some of the speakers and organisers at the Northern Ireland regional meeting

transient state of hypogonadotrophic
hypogonadism (HH) associated with
prolongation of the childhood phase of
growth, delayed skeletal maturation
and short stature, delayed pubertal
growth spurt and low IGF-1 secretion.
CDGP is a diagnosis of exclusion and
the distinction between CDGP and
idiopathic HH requires careful clinical
observation, as biochemical
investigations do not always
discriminate. Dr Robert Johnston,
Consultant Paediatric Oncologist,
spoke about the use of laboratory tests
in neuroblastoma, which accounts for
15% of all paediatric cancer deaths.
Unequivocal diagnosis requires light
microscopy of tumour tissue or bone
marrow aspirate and demonstration of
elevated catecholamines or
metabolites such as vanillylmandelic
acid, homovanillic acid and dopamine.
Newer strategies, such as MYCN gene

amplification, can identify patients at
high risk and can help with treatment
stratification.
Dr Tom Trinick OBE, Consultant
Chemical Pathologist and General
Physician, gave a realistic view of
laboratory services in a war zone.
He presented examples of acute
medicine on the front line with limited
laboratory resources. It certainly put
our problems into perspective! Dr Peter
Sharpe, Consultant Chemical
Pathologist, and Julie McCullough,
Specialist Nurse, spoke on familial
hypercholesterolaemia (FH), outlining
the FH cascade testing service in
Northern Ireland and the role of the
specialist nurse. The programme is
regionally standardised and involves
close collaboration between the
Regional Genetics Centre and the lipid
clinics in each Trust. The detection
rate for FH has more than doubled
since the introduction of the
programme. Feedback about the
meeting was encouraging and our
thanks go to ACB (NI Region) Meetings
Secretary, Jenny Hamilton (Principal
Clinical Scientist, Belfast Health and
Social Care Trust), for her work in
organising this event.
The Annual RCPath Northern Ireland
Regional Symposium was held on 8th
June 2016. This is an extremely well
supported, highly appreciated and
unique (in UK terms) annual event,
which is attended by the President and
also by one of the Vice Presidents
(David Bailey) of the College.
The meeting is an opportunity for
pathologists to hear presentations of
general interest from other pathology
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Republic of Ireland Region
The regional scientific meeting was
held in January 2016 at St Vincent’s
University Hospital, Dublin. This was a
broad programme, with academic,
clinical and laboratory based speakers
and included talks on non-invasive
cancer genetics, gestational diabetes
and procurement. Micheal Ryan (Senior
Biochemist, St John’s Hospital,
Limerick) provided a meeting report in
the ACB News (April 2016).

Dr Michael McBride, Mrs Margaret McDonnell and Professor Maurice O’Kane attended the
Northern Ireland regional meeting in April 2016

disciplines and to network with
colleagues from the whole province.
It also gives fellows and trainees the
opportunity both to question and to
hear updates from the College
President.
The Regional Audit Group met in April
and December 2016. A regional
procedure has been agreed for the
investigation of patients with kidney
stones following an audit and
discussion of findings. A review of
outsourcing and tests sent away has
been conducted and has led to the
development of regional
recommendations for the introduction
of a new referral test. It has also
promoted the harmonisation of
laboratory referral testing and has led
to discussion on the regional
repatriation of some tests that have
grown in volume. An ‘add-on’ testing
audit and review was conducted during
2016 leading to the development of
regional standards for such testing.
Recently, an audit of faecal
calprotectin has been carried out in
line with NICE DG11 and regional
recommendations are currently being
developed. Peter Auld and Derek
Mckillop (Consultant Clinical Scientist,
Southern Trust) have recently published
in the Annals of Clinical Biochemistry
[Ann Clin Biochem 2017, Vol. 54(1)
158–164] the findings of a national
turnaround time survey.
As part of National Pathology Week,
the pathology department at Ulster
Hospital, Dundonald held a laboratory
open day on 10th November 2016.
The aim was to increase awareness,

promote understanding of pathology
and inspire students who are
considering pathology as a career.
The event was well attended by
students and healthcare workers from
the Trust which included medical,
nursing and allied health care
professionals. The event started off
with a laboratory tour of various
pathology disciplines including
specimen reception, biochemistry,
haematology and microbiology.
This was followed by a visit to an
exhibition area which had poster
displays, demonstrations and
discussions with volunteer members of
staff. The team was inspired by the
enthusiasm and interest shown by the
visitors who felt that the open day was
an enjoyable learning experience.
Organising the open day was a huge
undertaking for staff in the department
but they all found this to be rewarding
and were proud to show the public the
services we provide.
Membership of our Regional ACB
Executive Committee has changed,
with Gillian Hamilton becoming the
secretary/treasurer and Kathryn Ryan
becoming the meetings secretary.
Training posts for clinical scientists in
biochemistry were created owing to
retirement vacancies, with the
appointment of two trainees. Funds
have now been approved recurrently
for three training posts each year.
These will be allocated to the relevant
laboratory disciplines according to
workforce plans.

In 2016, ACB members participated in a
number of national initiatives including
the National Cancer Control
Programme, which involves work on
the harmonisation of prostate-specific
antigen, human chorionic
gonadotrophin and more recently
CA125 analysis, as well as the national
laboratory information and
management system project (MEDLIS).
Members have also been involved in
other national and international
organisations, committees and events,
including the Irish National
Accreditation Board, Irish Equal Quality
Assurance, Irish Molecular Diagnostics
Network, Irish Society of Human
Genetics and various clinical and
scientific working groups within the
European and International Federations
of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory
Medicine. Members have collaborated
with clinical colleagues from other
societies including the Irish Endocrine
Society and the Faculty of Radiologists
Ireland, in conjunction with the
Association of Clinical Biochemists in
Ireland (ACBI).
Regional ACB members also contributed
to the activities of the ACBI, including
organisation and participation in its
annual conference where topics
included direct access to patient
results, chronic kidney disease,
cardiovascular disease, lipids,
biochemical genetics and quality.
The ACBI payed tribute to Dr John
O’Mullane (Consultant Clinical
Biochemist, Cork) upon his retirement
and we too share the sentiments
expressed. Clinical biochemists training
towards FRCPath examinations hosted
a session on reflex and reflective
testing and reporting of incidental
findings, which used real time
electronic voting to encourage
delegate participation. This format was
well received and will be adopted for
future regional meetings.
The FRCPath training group (ACBI) has
continued to flourish and grow, with

ACB Regions Report 21

Left to right: Charlie Massie, Ruth O’Kelly, Mary Stapleton, William O’Connor and
Graham Lee at the ACB Republic of Ireland Scientific Meeting held in January 2016

Trainees Christopher Stockdale (Queen
Elizabeth University Hospital Glasgow),
Emma Dewar (Aberdeen Royal Infirmary,
winner) and Jennifer Johnstone (Ninewells
Hospital Dundee) all competed for the
John King Award

tutorial sessions organised and hosted
by members across the entire region
(not just in one location). Video
conferencing has been used
occasionally and given the geographical
spread of members, its use will
hopefully continue.

Fraser Davidson, who was in the
audience. Nicola Bradshaw spoke about
the genetics of phaeochromocytoma
and Marie Van Drimmelen concluded
the meeting with a farewell to Anne
Pollock (past Chair of ACB Scotland),
following her recent retirement.

The region’s committee has organised
an annual scientific meeting on the
27th January 2017 with two main
themes: networked pathology and
national screening (colorectal and
newborn). We are delighted that the
new national clinical director for
pathology, Dr Mary Keogan (Consultant
Immunologist) has agreed to open the
meeting and we look forward to
meeting speakers (and delegates) from
both sides of the Irish Sea and beyond.

The Autumn Scientific Meeting held at
Perth Royal Infirmary on 24th October
was attended by more than fifty
delegates. Four trainees presented
members’ papers and competed for the
John King Award which was won by
Emma Dewar of Aberdeen Royal
Infirmary. Thereafter the meeting had
a renal theme, with talks on acute
kidney injury alerts, proteinuria, and
chronic kidney disease. Speakers
included Samira Bell, Gemma O’Reilly

Scotland Region
The Scotland Region had another
successful year. The Spring Scientific
Meeting, held at the Queen Elizabeth
University Hospital in Glasgow on 2nd
March 2016, had an endocrine theme
and was attended by more than
seventy delegates. Finlay Mackenzie
and Scott Blackwell spoke about
laboratory aspects of cortisol and
phaeochromocytoma respectively, and
several clinicians (Marie Freel, Colin
Perry and Sandra MacRury) spoke about
the investigation of Cushing syndrome,
phaeochromocytoma and other
endocrine diagnoses. These largely
case-based talks were appreciated by
the audience. The clinicians
acknowledged the huge contribution
made over many years to the
laboratory investigation of
phaeochromocytoma in particular by

Marie Van Drimmelen and Michael Murphy join the audience in applauding Anne Pollock at
a meeting to mark her retiral from Raigmore Hospital in Inverness

(who did a great job standing in for
Ian Godber at short notice), Neil Turner
(Edinburgh) and Mark MacGregor
(Ayrshire).
There were some changes to the
membership of the ACB Scotland
Committee following the Annual
General Meeting. Andrew Kerry has
replaced Marianne Barr as
representative for Greater Glasgow &
Clyde, while Harriet Allison has
replaced Fiona Brandie as East of
Scotland trainee representative.
Lauren Hennessy and Kevin Scott have
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taken up roles as representative for
immunology and microbiology
respectively. There will be further
changes to the committee at the next
AGM, including the Chair, who will, for
the first time, be elected by the
regional membership.
The Scottish Clinical Biochemistry
Managed Diagnostics Network
(SCBMDN) is now firmly established as
the national forum for discussion of all
professional activities, and crucially for
engaging with the Scottish
Government. Ian Godber replaced Bill
Bartlett as lead for the SCBMDN during
2016, and in a related move, Jill Patte
was appointed as programme manager
for the Shared Services Health Portfolio
Board. Work on the Scottish
Government’s shared services agenda
continues, with laboratories forming
one of four high-profile workstreams in
their programme. Since the last
Council meeting, they have published a
‘National Clinical Strategy’ summary
document. Full of ‘high-level vision’,
detail is sparse and the implications for
NHS laboratories in Scotland remain to
be determined. Items undergoing
review by the SCBMDN include
information technology, staffing and
workforce issues and demand
optimisation. Other topics discussed
included how the specialty can feed
into the Scottish Intercollegiate
Guidelines Network (SIGN), especially
how the SCBMDN could become a
formal stakeholder in SIGN guidelines,
and innovation. Demand optimisation is
prominent on the national agenda,
with Bernie Croal, Bill Bartlett and
others taking forward the adaptation of
the NHS Atlas of Variation in Diagnostic
Services.
South West and Wessex Region
With diminishing numbers of Clinical
Biochemists and increasing time
pressures, we have struggled to recruit
to the committee. Happily we are now
at full strength, but we need to engage
more directly with the membership to
highlight the work of the committee
and to disseminate information.
Our meetings secretary, Anna Barton,
now produces a news sheet after each
committee meeting. It contains details
of the main themes and a summary of
the key issues discussed and is
appreciated by members.
The region held two scientific meetings
during the year. The spring meeting
was held jointly with the Welsh ACB

region in Bristol and focussed on
cardiovascular issues and nutrition.
The autumn meeting in Plymouth had a
theme of metabolic bone disease
followed by the trainee’s award. Local
clinical colleagues presented bone
disease in a clinical context and
Professor Bill Fraser give a highly
entertaining and informative talk on
the hot topic of the day, Vitamin D.
Papers were given by three of the
region’s young scientists. Emma Smith
from Bristol took the prize for her
fascinating case on metastatic
colorectal cancer resembling HELLP
syndrome in pregnancy.
Trainees continue to progress well and
there have been a number of exam
successes. A regional training day was
held at Derriford Hospital in March for
clinical scientist and medical trainees
preparing for FRCPath exams. There
are two new STP trainees in the region
in Torbay and in Truro.
Southern Region
The Southern Region has had another
year of well-coordinated meetings with
first class scientific content. Education
has been focused, with scientific
meetings, workshops and tutorials to
enhance the practical experience in
the Scientist Training Programme (STP),
especially in less accessible areas of
the region. Trainees across the region
continue to be successful in completing
STP training and FRCPath exams.
We have had encouraging turnout and
good feedback for our Southern Region
scientific meetings, which are
coordinated by Rebecca Powney.
We held three meetings covering a
range of topics across the region.
The February meeting ‘Laboratory
Metabolic Medicine Looking Forward’
was organised by Great Ormond Street
Hospital and also included the annual
Southern Region AGM. There were 80
delegates. Topics included paediatric
and metabolic medicine,
neurotransmitters and advances in
genetic diagnoses of metabolic
diseases. The July meeting, ‘Vitamin D:
Analytical and clinical stories’, was
organised as a joint meeting between
the ACB Southern Region and DEQAS at
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust.
International and national experts gave
presentations on vitamin D
methodology, physiology and health
policy with encouraging feedback from
the 90 delegates, from both within and
outside the UK. In September, Luton

and Dunstable Hospital organised a
meeting on the biochemistry of acutely
ill patients. The meeting included the
presentations for the Bill Richmond
Prize. Approximately forty delegates
attended this meeting and there were
six talks given by members. The Bill
Richmond Prize was awarded to Francis
Lam for his presentation ‘An unusual
case of steroid 17 alpha-hydroxylase
deficiency’ and Agata SobczyńskaMalefora for her presentation ‘A baby
with severe vitamin B12 deficiency’.
There is no formal social programme
for the Southern Region and therefore
the committee added a drinks
reception after each scientific meeting
to provide an opportunity for members
to socialise and network. These have
been well attended and are covered by
the meeting budget.
Scientific meetings continue to break
even and are always well received by
our members. We are grateful to all of
the commercial sponsors who provide
generous funding to help maintain this
important aspect of the Southern
Region’s work. We are also extremely
grateful for the support provided by
the ACB office in organising the
meetings. We hope to continue
organising three meetings a year,
given the number of members in the
region.
Trainees have been progressing well in
the region. They have attended various
meetings, training courses and
conferences, includes Focus 2016 and
the FRCPath training course. An STP
elective presentation day was
organised by Rosalind Bray, the Inner
London Trainee representative and held
on the 19th December 2016 at the ACB
offices in Tooley Street. The meeting
brings established and new trainees
together, as well as members of the
Southern Region Committee.
Attendance was good with talks being
based on the current trainees’ elective
experiences. The annual trainees
welcome evening was held immediately
afterwards, offering trainees a chance
to network with fellow STPs across the
region.
We would like to acknowledge and
thank Helen Johnstone who acted as
Committee Chair to cover Sally
Benton’s maternity leave and Matthew
Whitlock who covered the Treasurer
role whilst Emma Tuddenham was on
maternity leave.
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Trent, Northern and Yorkshire Region
The Trent, Northern and Yorkshire
(TNY) Region held a successful meeting
in York in October. This was jointly
organised by Rafaq Azad and Carys
Lippiatt from TNY and Barry Sampson
and Andrew Taylor from the SupraRegional Assay Service (SAS) for trace
elements. There was plenty of positive
feedback from the delegates. There
are still a number of vacancies within
the regional committee which need
members to volunteer to be able to
continue the work within the region.
The TNY annual general meeting was
held in Harrogate in July with few
attendees owing to changes in dates.
Wales Region
A spring ACB Wales Region Committee
meeting was held on 14th March 2016
at the Holiday Inn Filton, Bristol
followed by the annual general
meeting and the joint scientific
meeting between Wales and South
West and Wessex Regions held on
15th March. Topics included weight
management, nutrition, ISO standards,
treatment of hypercholesterolaemia,
endocrinology and utility of high
sensitivity troponin and clinical
algorithms.
The autumn ACB Wales Region
Committee meeting was held on 12th
October 2016 in Newport, followed by
a scientific meeting on the 13th
October at the Holiday Inn. The
meeting started with the ACB Wales
Members awards with presentations
given by four trainees, including a case
presentation by Sally Thirkettle
entitled ‘The importance of genetics in
routine biochemistry’, a presentation
on the complications from
micronutrient deficiency following
bariatric surgery given by Helen Cordy
and a patient with extreme
hypercortisolaemia presented by
Liz Palmer. The winner, after a difficult
decision, was Jacqui Foulkes for her
talk on the introduction of a panlaboratory EQA process. Jacqui was
presented with her award by Mark
Upton from Oxford Biosystems.
Scientific topics at the meeting
included liver disease, a clinical
overview and the delivery of the Welsh
Government ‘liver disease plan’ for
improving early detection and
prevention. Practical aspects of
implementing the plan using an
algorithm in the laboratory and the
AST:ALT ratio were presented.
Interesting talks followed on

ACB Wales Region Autumn Scientific Meeting 2016, Newport Award Presentation:
Mark Upton and Jacqui Foulkes

haemochromatosis and colorectal
cancer, including discussion on FIT
(faecal immunochemical testing) versus
FOB (faecal occult blood testing) and
experience from the Welsh bowel
cancer screening programme.
The National Eisteddfordd was held
from 9th July — 6th August 2016 at
Abergavenny. A ‘Disease Detectives’
stand promoting the role and careers
of laboratory staff in the NHS was
manned by clinical scientists,
biomedical scientists and medical staff
from different health board laboratory
services across Wales. A National
Careers fair was held in Llandudno,
North Wales, in October 2016 and there
was clinical biochemist representation
on the NHS careers exhibition stand
organised with Llandrillo College.
These successful public engagement
stands allowed the public to find out
what happens in our hospital
laboratories.
The All Wales Clinical Biochemistry
Audit group had two meetings on 12th
July 2016 (a video conference meeting)
and 15th September 2016. Annette
Thomas has completed her term of
office as Chair of the All Wales Audit
Committee and Soha Zouwail has taken
on this role, with Gareth Davies as
secretary and Angharad Shore as
meetings secretary. The ACB Wales
Region Audit meeting was held on 15th
September 2016. The theme was
quality and accreditation under
ISO 15189. Topics included traceability,
measurement uncertainty, quality in
networked laboratories and experience
of accreditation under ISO 15189 from

quality managers and representative of
the UK Accreditation Service.
The meeting was well attended,
with delegates and representatives
from across the UK.
The ACB Wales Region Committee
nominated Dr David Hullin for an ACB
Members Award for his significant
contribution to clinical biochemistry
including to research, WEQAS, the
Standing Specialist Advisory Group in
Clinical Chemistry and the ACB Wales
Regional Committee. Dr Hullin’s
Fellowship was awarded in March 2016.
Dr Gail Curtis retired in spring 2016 and
attended the spring joint scientific
meeting. This gave members an
opportunity to thank her for her

ACB Wales Autumn Scientific Meeting,
Newport, 2016: Members Award speakers:
Liz Palmer, Jacqui Foulkers, Helen Cordy
and Sally Thirkettle
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contributions to the Region over the
years, including as secretary of the ACB
Wales Region committee.
Current membership of the ACB Wales
Region committee is as follows: chair,
John Geen; secretary, Sharman Harris;
meetings secretary, Kelly Mitchem;
treasurer, Jon Flowerday; regional
tutor, John Geen; FCS representative,
Geoffrey Armstrong; trainee
representative, Joanna Flatt; clinical
practice section representative, Adam
Cookson; website, Gareth Davies;
ordinary members, Julia Walsh, Susan
Prosser, Brian Tennant; immunology
representative, Michael Melhuish;
microbiology and genetics
representatives, both vacant; audit
representative (Chair of All Wales Audit
Group), Soha Zouwail.
New committee members for the ACB
Wales Region in 2016 included Brian
Tennant and Michael Melhuish. Steve
Davis has come to the end of his tenure
as the treasurer of the Wales ACB and
Jon Flowerday, previously an ordinary
member, has taken up the role. Julia
Walsh has kindly undertaken the duties
of the meetings secretary during Kelly
Mitchem’s maternity leave.
The ACB Wales Region funded four
travel bursaries in 2016, including two
for attendance at the ‘Association for
Mass Spectrometry: Applications to the
Clinical Laboratory European
Conference’ in Salzburg, Austria in
September 2016. A meeting report will
be submitted to ACB News by Sally
Thirkettle and Jonathan Howe. There
were also bursaries awarded for two
ACB Wales regional meetings (Audit
meeting, Cardiff, September 2016 and
ACB Wales Region autumn meeting,
Newport, October 2016). Joanna Flatt
submitted a report to the ACB News.
A Wales Region scientific meeting
questionnaire was prepared by Kelly
Mitchem and Sharman Harris and
circulated to all ACB members within
Wales via the ACB Office prior to the
Spring meeting. The aim was to
improve attendance at Wales Region
ACB meetings. Feedback on meetings
was positive with members feeling they

offered good educational opportunities
and value for money. Issues preventing
attendance included workload and
cover restrictions at work and there
was no consensus on the best time/day
for a meeting. More advanced notice of
dates was requested, possible
videoconferencing links and more
microbiology content in meetings.
A workshop was held at the University
Hospital of Wales on 20th September
2016 with academics, scientists,
medical geneticists and Welsh
Government representatives to discuss
the future strategy for the provision of
genetics/genomics services for Wales.
The Healthcare Science Strategic
Workforce Group (HCSSWG) has
developed ‘The Science behind Prudent
Healthcare, a 10 year strategy for
Health Science in NHS Wales’. The
strategy outlines a purpose, career
opportunities, the case for change,
challenges and presents a vision on
how health care scientists can continue
to contribute to the safe effective
delivery of clinical services in NHS
Wales. The Academy for Healthcare
Science (AHCS) and the Welsh
Government jointly hosted the annual
AHCS conference in Cardiff on the 30th
November and 1st December 2016.
The All Wales Laboratory Sciences
Integrated Training and Education
Group has been re-established to
provide strategic guidance on the
provision of training and education for
laboratory scientists and support
workers across Wales.
All STP trainees are progressing well in
Wales. Two STPs have been recruited in
clinical biochemistry, one in Cwm Taf
UHB and one in Aneurin Bevan UHB.
The current total number of clinical
biochemistry STPs in Wales is six.
There was clinical biochemistry
representation on the CRP expert
group, a sub-group of the Welsh
Government Antimicrobial Delivery
Plan task and finish group. They first
met in Autumn 2016 and were asked to
prepare guidance for using CRP point of

care testing (POCT) to support clinical
decisions in primary care for prudent
prescribing of antibiotics. Membership
included Annette Thomas (Chair) and
Clinical Biochemists Sharman Harris
and Julia Walsh with representation
from Public Health Wales, general
practitioners, pharmacists and POCT
coordinators. A guidance document,
‘Using CRP testing to support clinical
decisions in primary care’ was
completed in December 2016 and is
currently being ratified for circulation
across Wales.
West Midlands Region
2016-17 has been a very quiet year for
the West Midlands Region owing to an
unprecedented upheaval of the
committee. Positions have been
vacated before the end of tenure
because of work commitments,
maternity leave or promotion to other
regions. This has unfortunately meant
that no regional meetings were
planned for the year and few
committee meetings have been held
due to lack of membership.
Despite this, those still involved in the
committee have continued to
communicate and we are in the
process of trying to recruit to the
vacant positions. We have a meeting
planned for the coming year which will
be hosted by the Region on behalf of
the West Midlands National Institute
for Health Clinical Research Network
and are organising our usual Robert
Gaddie meeting where trainees will be
able to showcase their MSc project
work.
Many of the West Midlands laboratories
are being affected by a reduction in
the number of applicants for vacant
posts, several have gone through or are
going through UKAS accreditation and
there is still uncertainty about what
the sustainability and transformation
plans may bring. All of this leaves very
little time for individuals to commit to
what is seen as outside activities, but
we are all keen to engage with our
membership and will hopefully secure
a much more robust committee
structure for the coming year.
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The Association had a deficit of income over expenditure of
£16,344 in the year to end December, although unrealised
gains on investments during the year totalled £70,490 so
that the Association’s total assets after allowing for
depreciation increased by £54,146 to £2,559,592. This latter
figure comprises principally the Association’s long leasehold
property and an investment portfolio of approximately
£1.6 million. Over the last five years, the Association’s total
assets have increased by approximately £400,000.
The increased investment income has been a valuable
contributor to the Association’s overall income.
But as I have warned in previous years, we cannot afford to
be complacent. Our members continue to be the major
source of our income and your Council and directors are
aware of the financial constraints imposed by restrictions on
public sector pay increases in recent years. The total
number of members continues to decrease, and the number
of retired members as a percentage of the overall
membership to increase. Two important cost-saving
initiatives have been embarked upon since the beginning of
2017: the format of our annual national meeting has been
changed so that it now extends over two, rather than three,
days; and we anticipate considerable savings from moving
to two-monthly publication of ACB News and reducing its
publication costs without detriment to its quality.
A huge amount of members’ time is spent on organising the
national and regional meetings, and indeed in contributing
to the Association’s activities — publications, committees
and working parties, scrutiny and preparation of documents,
and the Federation of Clinical Scientists. The Association
could not function without this voluntary input.
Members of the Association are automatically members of
the Federation of Clinical Scientists, the Association’s trade
union, whose expertise is available to both scientist and
medical members. We are not required to publish separate
accounts for the Federation. The Association is responsible
for three charities: the funds of Clinical Biochemistry
Conferences, owned by the Association, are available to
support educational activities, and in recent years have
been used in particular to support scientific scholarships.
The CP Stewart Fund is devoted to the support of members
wishing to learn new techniques that they wish to import
into their own laboratories. The Benevolent Fund is

Nic Law, Cheryl Taylor and William Marshall

available to provide support for members and the
Association’s staff and their dependants in time of need.
This year, we have had new accountants and auditors,
Buzzacott LLP, and they have been helpful in reviewing and
suggesting changes to our financial procedures that should
in future years streamline the preparation of our statutory
accounts and the independent audit that follows. It has
been a pleasure to work with them. They have issued an
unqualified report on the Association’s accounts, and on
those of the charities (which latter will be reported to the
relevant boards of trustees).
At Tooley Street, the day-to-day management of the
Association and the charities’ finances are in the capable
hands of Nic Law and Cheryl Taylor. I have greatly enjoyed
working with them during my five years as Director of
Finance, and thank them for their dedication and expertise.
Both personally and on behalf of the entire Association,
I am indebted to them. I should also like to thank my
fellow directors and present and past members of Council
for their support. It has been a privilege to have served the
Association in this role, and I wish my successor, and the
Association, well in the future.

Director of Finance: Dr William Marshall

Association Membership
The total membership at 31st December 2016 (2015) was 2146 (2233) and included 36 (34) Honorary Members, 47 (44) Emeritus
Members, 37 (35) Fellow Members, 1212 (1261) Ordinary Members, 112 (120) Overseas Members, 13 (14) Student Members, 104 (111)
Federation Members, with 43 (38) Temporarily Retired and 542 (576) Permanently Retired Members. Currently, 221 Members of the
ACB have Chartered Scientist status, of whom 163 registered through the Association.

Finance Report
Annual Report & Accounts 2016
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.
Results
The loss for the year, after taxation (before unrealised gains on listed investments) amounted to £16,344 (2015 - profit for the year £120,505).
Principal activity and future developments
The Association's overall objectives remain unchanged. They include activities relating to education and training (including the organisation of regional and
national meetings), the promotion of research and development, publishing, public engagement and cooperation with nationally and internationally based
cognate organisations. We do not expect these objectives to change materially in the next 12 months.
Directors
The directors who served during the year were as listed above.
Directors' responsibilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of
the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies for the company's financial statements and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' report is approved has confirmed that:
•
•

so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware, and
the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Small companies note
In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemptions provided by section 415A of the Companies Act 2006.
This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Dr W J Marshall, Director
7th April 2017

Reports and Financial Statements 27

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry
and Laboratory Medicine
We have audited the financial statements of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine for the year ended 31 December 2016, which
comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash flows, the Statement of changes in equity and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland’.
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement on page 26, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Standards Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2016 and of its result for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with those financial statements and this report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors' report.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
the directors were not entitled to take advantage of the small companies' exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic report or in preparing the
Directors' report.
Mark Worsey (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, London
7th April 2017

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

Note

2016

As restated
2015

£

£

Turnover
Gross profit
Administrative expenses

3

889,461
889,461
(946,270)

938,302
938,302
(863,687)

Operating (loss)/profit
Income from fixed asset investments
Surplus on disposal of investments
Interest receivable and similar income

4
6
7

(56,809)
18,418
21,682
365

74,615
17,039
25,839
373

(Loss)/profit before tax
Taxation on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

8

(16,344)
-

117,866
2,639

(16,344)

120,505

Unrealised gains on listed investments

70,490

9,135

Other comprehensive income for the year

70,490

9,135

Total comprehensive income for the year

54,146

129,640

(Loss)/profit for the year

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2016 or 2015 other than those included in the statement of comprehensive income.
The notes on pages 29 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2016

As restated
Note

2016
£

2015
£

1,360
786,967
1,569,258
2,357,585

2,040
788,844
1,447,856
2,238,740

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

9
10
11

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

12
13

104,320
612,951
717,271

263,818
464,991
728,609

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

14

(442,337)

(388,976)

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax

274,934
2,632,519
16

(72,927)

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

339,633
2,578,373

17
17
17

(79,927)
(72,927)
2,559,592

(72,927)
2,505,446

378,444
1,840,014
341,135
2,559,592

307,954
1,836,069
361,423
2,505,446

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the small companies'
regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A small entities.
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Director
7th April 2017

Statement of changes in equity
As at 31 December 2016

At 1 January 2016 (as previously stated)
Prior year adjustment (note 19)
At 1 January 2016 (as restated)
Loss for the year
Unrealised gains on listed investments
Transfer to/from profit and loss account
At 31 December 2016

Revaluation
reserve
£
407,954
(100,000)
307,954
70,490
378,444

Other
reserves
£
1,836,069
1,836,069
3,944
1,840,013

Profit and
loss account
£
361,423
361,423
(16,344)
(3,944)
341,135

Total
equity
£
2,605,446
(100,000)
2,505,446
(16,344)
70,490
2,559,592

Revaluation
reserve
£
298,819
–
9,135
–
307,954

Other
reserves
£
1,838,840
–
–
(2,771)
1,836,069

Proft and
loss account
£
238,147
120,505
–
2,771
361,423

Total
equity
£
2,375,806
120,505
9,135
–
2,505,446

Statement of changes in equity
As at 31 December 2015

At 1 January 2015
Profit for the year
Unrealised gains on listed investments
Transfer to/from profit and loss account
At 31 December 2015
The notes on pages 29 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2016

2016
£

2015
£

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the financial year

(16,344)

120,505

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of tangible assets
Interest receivable
Taxation charge
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
(Decrease) in amounts owed to groups
Corporation tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

680
30,777
(365)
159,297
63,544
(5,984)
(4,198)
227,407

31,427
(373)
(2,639)
(50,373)
(100,232)
(6,013)
(7,698)

–
(28,900)
(335,499)
284,587
365
(79,447)

(2,040)
(1,320)
(247,576)
228,293
373
(22,270)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

147,960
464,991

(29,968)
494,959

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

612,951

464,991

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year comprise:
Cash at bank and in hand

612,951

464,991

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of tangible assets
Purchase of listed investments
Sale of listed investments
Interest receivable and similar income
Net cash from investing activities

Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

General information
The company is a private company limited by guarantee and is incorporated in the United Kingdom (England and Wales). Its registered
office is 130-132 Tooley Street, London, SE1 2TU.

2. Accounting Policies
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise specified within these
accounting policies and in accordance with Section 1A of Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (‘FRS 102’) and the Companies Act 2006.
The company is a parent undertaking of a small group and as such is not required by Companies Act 2006 to prepare group accounts.
These financial statements therefore present information about the company as an individual undertaking and not about its group.
The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
2.2 Going concern
The company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the
company can meet its liabilities as they fall due.
On this basis, the directors consider that the company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.
2.3 Turnover
Turnover comprises revenue recognised by the company in respect of goods and services supplied during the year, exclusive of Value
Added Tax and trade discounts.
Annual subscriptions are allocated according to their renewal date which runs synchronous with the financial year. The subscriptions
relating to the year under review are included in the Statement of comprehensive income and those relating to the following year
are shown in creditors as prepaid subscriptions.
2.4 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible assets are measured at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
All intangible assets are considered to have a finite useful life. If a reliable estimate of the useful life cannot be made, the useful
life shall not exceed ten years.
The estimated useful lives range as follows:
Software

-

3 years

2.5 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental future benefits to the company. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight
line method.
Depreciation is provided on the following basis:
Long-term leasehold property
Office equipment
Computer equipment

-

2%
15%
20%

straight line
reducing balance
straight line

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, or if
there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
Statement of comprehensive income.
2.6

Valuation of investments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.
Investments in unlisted company shares, whose market value can be reliably determined, are remeasured to market value at each
balance sheet date. Gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income for the period.
Where market value cannot be reliably determined, such investments are stated at historic cost less impairment.
Investments in listed company shares are remeasured to market value at each Balance sheet date. Gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss for the period.

2.7

Debtors
Short-term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

2.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three months from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

2.9 Financial instruments
The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors, loans from banks and other third parties, loans to related parties and
investments in non-puttable ordinary shares.
Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans and other accounts receivable
and payable, are initially measured at present value of the future cash flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and creditors, are
measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid or
received. However, if the arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a financing transaction, like the payment of a trade
debt deferred beyond normal business terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an out right
short-term loan not at market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at the present value of the future cash
flow discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument and subsequently at amortised cost.
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective
evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of
comprehensive income.
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset’s
carrying amount and best estimate of the recoverable amount, which is an approximation of the amount that the company would
receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the balance sheet date.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance sheet when there is an enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
2.10 Creditors
Short-term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are measured initially
at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
2.11 Operating leases: the company as lessee
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease
term.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease
term, unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the lessee's benefit from the use of the leased asset.
2.12 Pensions
Defined contribution pension plan
The company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the company has no further
payment obligations.
The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Statement of comprehensive income when they fall due. Amounts not paid
are shown in accruals as a liability in the Balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held separately from the company in
independently administered funds.
2.13 Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
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2.14 Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income,
except that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to an item
recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company operates and generates income.
Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the Balance sheet
date, except that:
• The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and
• Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances have been met.
Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in respect of business combinations, when
deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values of assets acquired and the future tax deductions available
for them and the differences between the fair values of liabilities acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred
tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
3.

Turnover
The whole of the turnover is attributable to promoting the advancement of Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine. All turnover
arose within the United Kingdom.

4.

Operating (loss)/profit
The operating (loss)/profit is stated after charging:

2016
£
30,777
680

2015
£
31,427
-

10,000
12,830

8,450
12,519

2016
£
200,578
12,830
213,408

2015
£
197,491
12,519
210,010

2016
£
18,418

2015
£
17,039

Other interest receivable

2015
£
365

2014
£
373

Taxation
Corporation tax
Current tax on profits for the year
Total current tax

2016
£
-

2015
£
4,198
4,198

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Total deferred tax

-

(6,837)
(6,837)

Taxation on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

-

(2,639)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Amortisation of intangible assets, including goodwill
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for the audit of the
company's annual financial statements
Defined contribution pension cost
During the year, no director received any emoluments (2015 - £NIL).
5.

Employees
Staff costs were as follows:
Wages and salaries
Cost of defined contribution scheme

The average monthly number of employees during the year was 7 (2015-2017).
6.

Income from investments
Income from fixed asset investments

7.

8.

Interest receivable

Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2015 lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20% (2015 - 20%).
The differences are explained below:
2016
2015
£
£
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax
(16,344)
117,866
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 20% (2015 - 20%)
Effects of:
Capital allowances for year in excess of depreciation
Short-term timing difference leading to an increase (decrease) in taxation
Non taxable income not deductible for tax purposes
Other differences leading to an increase (decrease) in the tax charge
Total tax charge for the year

(3,269)

23,573

3,269
-

4,123
(9,572)
(8,577)
(12,186)
(2,639)
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9.

Intangible assets

Software
£

Cost
At 1 January 2016
At 31 December 2016

2,040
2,040

Amortisation
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2016

680
680

Net book value
At 31 December 2016
At 31 December 2015

1,360
2,040

10. Tangible fixed assets

Long-term
leasehold property

Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Total

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2016
Additions
At 31 December 2016

£

£

£

£

1,068,067
–
1,068,067

57,263
80
57,343

28,679
28,820
57,499

1,154,009
28,900
1,182,909

Depreciation
At 1 January 2016
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2016

320,198
21,361
341,559

32,728
3,680
36,408

12,239
5,736
17,975

365,165
30,777
395,942

Net book value
At 31 December 2016

726,508

20,935

39,524

786,967

At 31 December 2015

747,869

24,535

16,440

788,844

Listed
investments
£
1,447,856
(100,000)
1,347,856

Unlisted
investments
£
100,000
–
100,000

Total
£
1,547,856
(100,000)
1,447,856

Additions
Disposals
Revaluations
At 31 December 2016

335,499
(284,587)
70,490
1,469,258

–
100,000

335,499
(284,587)
70,490
1,569,258

Net book value
At 31 December 2016

1,469,258

100,000

1,569,258

At 31 December 2015 (as restated)

1,347,856

100,000

1,447,856

11. Fixed asset investments
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2016 (as previously stated)
Prior year adjustment
At 31 December 2016 (as restated)

The cost of listed investments (including cash held awaiting investment) at 31 December 2016 was £1,092,215 (2015 - £1,039,902).
Unlisted investments comprise £100,000 Lombard international bond. Accordingly they are included at cost less provision for any
permanent diminution in value.
The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine is the parent undertaking of Clinical Biochemistry Conferences,
a company limited by guarantee and a registered charity, by virtue of common control. The company was incorporated on 8 January 2003
and the objects of the charity are to advance, spread and increase the knowledge, for the public benefit, of all aspects of the study of
medical science concerned with clinical biochemistry and laboratory medicine and their diagnostic systems.
Clinical Biochemistry Conferences prepares accounts to 31 December. The latest account prepared for the year ended 31 December 2016
showed a loss of £8,267 (2015 - £14,916) and total reserves of £95,362 (2015 - £103,629).
12. Debtors
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

13. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand

2016
£
27,642
11,200
65,478
104,320

2015
£
57,046
10,835
195,737
263,618

2016
£
612,951

2015
£
464,991
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14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
15. Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2016
£
61,211
88,733
–
769
110,494
181,130
442,337

2015
£
109,539
94,717
4,198
4,652
81,844
94,026
388,976

2016
£

2015
£

628,648
38,842

464,991
67,881

(149,944)

(204,256)

16. Deferred taxation

2016
£
(72,927)
(72,927)

At beginning of year
Charged to the profit or loss
At end of year
The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows:
Provision for timing differences

2016
£
(72,927)

2015
£
(72,927)

17. Reserves
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the unrealised increase in market value above original cost on listed investments held at the end
of the financial period.
Other reserves
The fixed asset fund represents the balance of the Association's funds that are invested in tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and
investments at cost, less the balance of the loan owed to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences.
Profit and loss account
Includes all other current and prior period retained profits and losses.
18. Company status
The company is a private company limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to
contribute an amount not exceeding £1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.
19. Prior year adjustment
The prior year financial statements double counted the company’s unlisted investments in listed investments, causing fixed asset
investments and the revaluation reserve to be overstated by £100,000.
20. Capital commitments
At 31 December 2016 the Company had capital commitments as follows:
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements

2016
£
-

2015
£
13,271

21. Pension commitments
The company operates a defined contributions pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents contributions payable by the company to the fund
and amounted to £12,830 (2015 - £12,519). Contributions totalling £nil (2015 -£761) were payable to the fund at the reporting date.
22. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 December 2016 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

After more than 5 years

2016
£
584,400

2015
£
584,700

The commitment relates to yearly rent in respect of the property lease and there were 982 years remaining on the operating lease as
at 31 December 2016 (2015 - 983).
23. Related Party Transactions
At 31 December 2016 £88,733 (2015 - £94,717) was due to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences, a subsidiary of the association, in the form
of an interest free loan.
At 31 December 2016 £4,232 (2015 - £4,232) was due from C P Stewart Memorial Fund, a charity of which Dr W J Marshall, Prof E S
Kilpatrick, Dr G McCreanor and Mr P Newland are trustees.
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Benevolent Fund
Trustees for the year ended 31 December 2016
Represented by the Benevolent Fund Committee
President & Chairman Dr G McCreanor
Treasurer & Secretary Dr W J Marshall
Dr H G J Worth
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Dr G S Challand
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130 Wood Street
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Bankers
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Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements of The Association of Clinical Biochemists Benevolent Fund for the year 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2016.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the attached financial statements and comply with the
charity’s Deed of Trust, the Charities Act 2011 and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective from
accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 24 October 1967 as amended by Deed and Resolution dated 15 May 2013.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co-opted under the terms of the Articles of Association.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the Trustees with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration.
Induction and training of new Trustees is conducted by the Secretary.
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give of their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.

Objectives and Activities
Policies and objectives
The objective of the charity is the help of necessitous persons who are or have been members or employees of the Association whether they are subscribers to
the Fund or not and the dependents of deceased or disabled past or present members or employees of the Association.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies.
Review of activities
The net outgoing resources for the period were £9,842 (net incoming resources for 2015 - £663).

Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed the major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees consider the principal risk
facing the charity to be its dependence on the Trustees’ own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to the current level. Any surplus funds are held in investments or short-term deposits to help maintain the
income levels for future years. Amounts have been paid to beneficiaries over the past few years and the Trustees will endeavour to find suitable persons whom
the charity can help.
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Other considerations
Public benefit
The Trustees have given due consideration to Charity Commission published guidance on the public benefit requirements. The Trust constitutes a public benefit
entity as defined by FRS 102.
Trustees' responsibilities statements
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in England & Wales requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the income and expenditure of the charity for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are
required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the
provisions of the Trust deed. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee

Independent Examiner’s Report
Independent examiner's report to the Trustees of The Association of Clinical Biochemists Benevolent Fund
I report on the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, Balance sheet and
Cash flow statement, with the related notes.
This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under section 154
of that Act. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity’s Trustees those matters I am required to state to them in an Independent
examiner’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and
the charity’s Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Respective responsibilities of Trustees and examiner
The charity’s Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements, and they consider that an audit is not required for this year under section
144(2) of the Charities Act 2011 (the Act) and that an independent examination is needed.
It is my responsibility to:
•
•
•

examine the financial statements under section 145 of the Act;
follow the procedures laid down in the general Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of the Act; and
state whether particular matters have come to my attention.

Basis of independent examiner’s report
My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions given by the Charity Commission. An examination includes a review of the accounting
records kept by the charity and a comparison of the financial statements presented with those records. It also includes consideration of any unusual items or
disclosures in the financial statements, and seeking explanations from you as Trustees concerning any such matters. The procedures undertaken do not provide
all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no opinion is given as to whether the financial statements present a ‘true and fair view’
and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
Independent examiner’s statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
(1) which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the requirements:
to keep accounting records in accordance with section 130 of the Act; and;
•
•
to prepare financial statements which accord with the accounting records and comply with the accounting requirements of the Act
have not been met; or
(2) to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements to be reached.
Mark Worsey FCA
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, London
7th April 2017
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Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

Unrestricted funds
2016
£

Total funds
2016
£

Total funds
2015
£

998
998

998
998

1,281
1,281

10,840

10,840

618

10,840

10,840

618

Income
Donations
Total income
Expenditure
Charitable activities
Total expenditure

2

Net income/(expenditure) before other recognised gains and losses

(9,842)

(9,842)

663

Net movement in funds

(9,842)

(9,842)

663

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

52,993

52,993

52,330

Total funds carried forward

43,151

43,151

52,993

All activities relate to continuing operations.
The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All the charity’s activities derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods.

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2016
Note
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

Net current assets
Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

5

Total funds

£

2016
£

£

44,922

53,611

(1,771)

(618)

2015
£

43,151
43,151

52,993
52,993

43,151

52,993

43,151

52,993

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
7th April 2017
This report is a summary of the full report and financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is
available on the Association’s website.
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Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements of C.P. Stewart Memorial Fund for the year 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016.
The report has been prepared in accordance with Part 8 of the Charities Act 2011.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the attached financial statements and comply with the
charity’s Deed of Trust, the Charities Act 2011 and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective from
accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 29 January 1974.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co-opted under the terms of the Trust deed.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the board with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration. Induction
and training of new Trustees is conducted by the Secretary.

Objectives and Activities
Policies and objectives
The principal objective of the charity is to fund the advancement of scientific knowledge and education by providing financial support to enable scientists to visit
laboratories within the United Kingdom or elsewhere for the purposes of learning specialised techniques to obtain first hand knowledge from a recognised expert
in a field that would assist them in their studies.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies.
Review of activities
The net outgoing resources for the year were £792 (2015 - £556).

Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed the major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees consider the principal risk
facing the charity to be its dependence on the Trustees’ own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to the current level. Any surplus funds are held in short-term money market deposits to help maintain the
income levels for future years.
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.
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Other considerations
Trustees’ responsibilities statement
The charity Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in Scotland, England and Wales requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the income and expenditure of the charity for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees
are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business operation.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charity and Trustees Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charity
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the provisions of the Trust deed. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by:
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
7th April 2017

Independent Examiner’s Report
Independent examiner's report to the Trustees of The C P Stewart Memorial Fund
I report on the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, Balance sheet and
Cash flow statement, with the related notes.
This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 145 of the Charities Act 2011, and regulations made under section 154
of that Act, and regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity’s Trustees
those matters I am required to state to them in an Independent examiner’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Respective responsibilities of Trustees and examiner
The charity’s Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements, and they consider that an audit is not required for this year under section
144(2) of the Charities Act 2011 (the Act) or under regulation 10 (1) (a) to (c) of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (the Accounts Regulations)
and that an independent examination is needed.
It is my responsibility to:
•
•
•

examine the financial statements under section 145 of the Act and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 (the 2005
Act);
follow the procedures laid down in the general Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of the Act; and
state whether particular matters have come to my attention.

Basis of independent examiner’s report
My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions given by the Charity Commission and is in accordance with regulation 11 of the Charities
(Scotland) Regulations 2006. An examination includes a review of the accounting records kept by the charity and a comparison of the financial statements
presented with those records. It also includes consideration of any unusual items or disclosures in the financial statements, and seeking explanations from you
as Trustees concerning any such matters. The procedures undertaken do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no
opinion is given as to whether the financial statements present a ‘true and fair view’ and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
Independent Examiner’s Statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
(1) which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the requirements:
• to keep accounting records in accordance with section 130 of the Act, Section 44(1) (a) of the 2005 Act and regulation 4 of the Accounts Regulations; and
• to prepare financial statements which accord with the accounting records and comply with the accounting requirements of the Act, section 44(1)(b) of
the 2005 Act and regulation 8 of the Accounts Regulations
have not been met; or
(2) to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements to be reached.
Mark Worsey FCA
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, London
7th April 2017
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Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

Unrestricted funds
2016
£

Total funds
2016
£

Total funds
2015
£

48
48

48
48

62
62

840

840

618

840

840

618

Income
Investment income
Total income
Expenditure
Charitable activities

2

Total expenditure
Net expenditure before other recognised gains and losses

(792)

(792)

(556)

Net movement in funds

(792)

(792)

(556)

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

19,855

19,855

20,411

Total funds carried forward

19,063

19,063

19,855

The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All the charity's activities derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods.

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2016
Note
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

Net current assets
Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

5

Total funds

£

2016
£

£

19,903

23,476

(840)

(3,621)

2015
£

19,063
19,063

19,855
19,855

19,063

19,855

19,063

19,855

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
7th April 2017
This report is a summary of the full report and financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is
available on the Association’s website.
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